ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The statute criminalizing second - degree rape of a child is
unconstitutional because it was enacted in violation of Wash. Const. 

art. II, § 19. 

2. The 1990 bill reenacting and amending RCW 9A.44.076 violated the
single - subject rule. 

3. The 1990 bill reenacting and amending RCW 9A.44.076 violated the
subject -in -title rule. 

4. The 1990 amendment elevating second - degree rape of a child to a
class A felony is void. 

5. Mr. Haviland was convicted under an unconstitutional statute. 

ISSUE 1: Washington' s constitution requires that bills enacted

into law embrace a single subject. The 1990 bill reenacting
and amending RCW 9A.44. 076 ( second - degree child rape) 
embraced more than one subject. Was Mr. Haviland convicted

under a statute that was enacted in violation of Wash. Const. 

art. II, § 19? 

ISSUE 2: Art. II, § 19 requires that the subject of a bill be

expressed in its title. The bill reenacting and amending RCW
9A.44.076 ( second - degree child rape) was captioned " AN ACT

Relating to Criminal Offenders," but addressed non - criminal

topics ranging from juvenile justice to civil commitment. Was
the criminal attempt statute enacted as part of a bill that

violated the subject -in -title rule because the title contained no

reference to many of the different subjects contained in the
bill? 

6. Mr. Haviland' s convictions were based in part on propensity evidence, 
in violation of his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process. 

7. The trial court erred by admitting evidence of prior misconduct. 

8. The trial court should have excluded evidence of uncharged

misconduct, introduced by the state to show Mr. Haviland' s propensity
to commit sexual offenses. 



9. The trial court misinterpreted ER 404(b). 

10. The trial court failed to properly apply the four -step procedure
required for admission of prior bad acts evidence under ER 404( b). 

11. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 1. 3 in its
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Regarding Admissibility of
Certain Evidence. 

12. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 1. 4 in its
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Regarding Admissibility of
Certain Evidence. 

13. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 1. 5 in its
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Regarding Admissibility of
Certain Evidence. 

14. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 1. 6 in its
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Regarding Admissibility of
Certain Evidence. 

15. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 1. 7 in its
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Regarding Admissibility of
Certain Evidence. 

16. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 1. 8 in its
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Regarding Admissibility of
Certain Evidence. 

17. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2. 3 in its
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Regarding Admissibility of
Certain Evidence. 

18. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2. 4 in its
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Regarding Admissibility of
Certain Evidence. 

19. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2. 5 in its
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Regarding Admissibility of
Certain Evidence. 
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20. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2. 6 in its
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Regarding Admissibility of
Certain Evidence. 

21. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2. 7 in its
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Regarding Admissibility of
Certain Evidence. 

ISSUE 3: A criminal conviction may not be based on
propensity evidence. In this case, the court found evidence that
Mr. Haviland had masturbated in front of S. B. persuasive in

establishing that he had raped his daughter. Did Mr. 
Haviland' s conviction violate his Fourteenth Amendment right

to due process because it was based in part on propensity
evidence? 

ISSUE 4: ER 403 and ER 404( b) prohibit introduction of

evidence of uncharged misconduct, except in limited

circumstances. Here, the court allowed the state to introduce

evidence that Mr. Haviland had masturbated in front of S. B. 

Did the trial court err by admitting and considering evidence of
prior misconduct? 

22. Mr. Haviland' s conviction was entered in violation of the state

constitutional requirement that facts in a felony trial be determined by
a jury. 

23. The trial court erred by accepting Mr. Haviland' s jury waiver without
an affirmative showing that he understood all of his rights under Wash. 
Const. art. I, § 21 and § 22. 

ISSUE 5: Under the state constitution, the parties to a felony
prosecution may not infringe a jury' s right to hear and decide
factual issues. The conviction in this case was entered without

a jury determination of the facts. Was the conviction entered in
violation of the state constitution' s requirement that felony
cases be heard by a jury? 

ISSUE 6: An accused person' s state constitutional right to a

jury trial is broader and more highly valued than the
corresponding federal right. Here, the record does not
affirmatively demonstrate that Mr. Haviland understood his
right to a fair and impartial jury, his right to participate in the

3



selection of jurors, his right to a venire drawn from Lewis

County, and his right to have the jury instructed on the
presumption of innocence. In the absence of an affirmative

showing that Mr. Haviland fully understood his state
constitutional right to a jury trial, was his jury waiver inadequate
under Wash. Const. art. I, § 21 and § 22? 

F. 



STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

David Haviland is R.H.' s father and Billie Jo Haviland' s husband. 

RP ( 5/ 6/ 13) 13; RP ( 5/ 6/ 13) 82. R.H. is sixteen years old. RP ( 5/ 6/ 13) 11. 

In spring of 2012, R.H. and Ms. Haviland accused Mr. Haviland of

strangling and raping Ms. Haviland. RP ( 5/ 6/ 13) 55, 58 -60, 106. Later, 

mother and daughter admitted that they had lied to the police and that Mr. 

Haviland had never strangled or raped Ms. Haviland. RP ( 5/ 6/ 13) 56, 

1. m

In late fall, Mr. Haviland withdrew $40, 925 from his retirement

account to catch up on bills and mortgage payments. RP ( 5/ 6/ 13) 118; Ex. 

9, p. 6. Two days later, Ms. Haviland and R.H. contacted the police and

accused Mr. Haviland of raping R.H. RP ( 5/ 8/ 13) 259. At the request of

an officer, Ms. Havliand lied and told Mr. Haviland that her car had

broken down. RP ( 5/ 8/ 13) 259 -60. The police arrested Mr. Haviland

when he showed up to help her. RP ( 5/ 8/ 13) 259 -60. 

Several days after Mr. Haviland was arrested, Ms. Haviland forged

his signature on the $ 40,925 check and tried to cash it. RP ( 5/ 6/ 13) 121, 

RP ( 5/ 7/ 13) 193 -94; Ex. 9, p. 5. She learned that she could not get that

much cash at once and instead deposited the check and withdrew $5, 000. 
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RP ( 5/ 7/ 13) 194; Ex. 9, p. 7. The next day, she withdrew $5, 000 more in

cash and got a cashier' s check for $20, 873. RP ( 5/ 7/ 13) 195; Ex. 9, p. 8. 

The state charged Mr. Haviland with two counts of second - degree

child rape and two counts of third - degree child rape based on R.H. and

Ms. Haviland' s allegations. CP 4 -8. Mr. Haviland decided to try the case

before the court and signed a form to waive his right to a jury trial. 

Waiver of Jury Trial, Supp. CP. The court engaged him in a brief colloquy

before accepting the waiver. RP ( 5/ 3/ 13) 25 -27. 

At trial, the state sought to introduce evidence from S. B., R.H.' s

friend. RP ( 5/ 3/ 13) 6 -11. S. B. said that she was present outside the shop

where R.H. claimed that Mr. Haviland first raped her. RP ( 5/ 6/ 13) 72 -73. 

S. B. said that, either before or after R.H. was in the shop, Mr. Haviland

called S. B. in and masturbated in front of her. RP ( 5/ 6/ 13) 74 -75. S. B. 

did not claim to have witnessed any sexual misconduct toward R.H. RP

5/ 6/ 13) 68 -81. S. B. said that R.H. appeared normal when she came out of

the shop. RP ( 5/ 6/ 13) 78. R.H. told S. B. that nothing had happened. RP

5/ 6/ 13) 78. 

Mr. Haviland objected to S. B.' s testimony under ER 404(b). RP

5/ 3/ 13) 12 -13. The court ruled that ER 404(b) did not apply because the

state was not seeking to introduce evidence of a prior bad act. CP 2 -3. 

The trial judge also admitted the evidence under ER 404( b) to show a

no



common scheme or plan" and res gestae. CP 3. The judge found that the

prejudicial effect of S. B.' s testimony was outweighed by its probative

value. CP 3. 

The court relied on S. B.' s testimony in finding Mr. Haviland guilty

of the offenses against R.H. CP 27 -28; RP 301, 304. In his oral ruling, 

the judge said that it found S. B.' s corroboration persuasive. RP 301. In

the written findings, the court indicated that " the testimony of S. B. 

corroborates the allegations made by R.H. that she was raped by [Mr. 

Haviland.]" CP 28. 

The judge convicted and sentenced Mr. Haviland on all four

counts. CP 10 -13. This timely appeal follows. CP 30. 

ARGUMENT

I. MR. HAVILAND WAS CONVICTED UNDER A STATUTE ENACTED IN

VIOLATION OF WASH. CONST. ART. II, § 19. 

A. Standard of Review

Appellate courts review constitutional violations de novo. State v. 

Lynch, 87882- 0, 2013 WL 5310164, - -- Wn.2d - -- (2013). A manifest

error affecting a constitutional right may be raised for the first time on

review. RAP 2. 5( a)( 3); State v. Kirwin, 165 Wn.2d 818, 823, 203 P. 3d

1044 ( 2009). 

7



Courts presume that statutes are constitutional; the party

challenging a statute' s constitutionality " bears the heavy burden of

establishing its unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt." 

Amalgamated Transit Union Local 587 v. State, 142 Wn.2d 183, 205, 11

P. 3d 762 (2000) opinion corrected, 27 P. 3d 608 ( 2001). An appellant

meets this standard when " argument and research show that there is no

reasonable doubt that the statute violates the constitution." Id. 

B. The Washington Constitution requires that all bills embrace a

single subject, which must be expressed in the bill' s title. 

Under Wash. Const. art. II, § 19, " No bill shall embrace more than

one subject, and that shall be expressed in the title." The framers included

this provision (a) to prevent " logrolling" ( where a law is pushed through

by attaching it to other legislation), and (b) " to notify members of the

Legislature and the public of the subject matter of the measure." 

Amalgamated Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d at 207. 

1. The single - subject rule. 

The legislature must " be given the opportunity to consider

legislative subjects in separate bills, so that each subject may stand or fall

upon its own merits or demerits." Washington Toll Bridge Auth. v. State, 

49 Wn.2d 520, 525, 304 P. 2d 676 ( 1956). The relevant inquiry looks to

whether " the body of the act contain[ s] more than one general subject..." 



Id, at 523. Part of the analysis turns on whether each subject is necessary

to implement the others. Amalgamated Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d at 217. 

A statute passed in violation of the single subject rule is unconstitutional

and void. Id. at 216; Toll Bridge, 49 Wn2d at 525. 

For example, in Toll Bridge, the Supreme Court invalidated an act

because it embraced two subjects: "( 1) To provide legislation, permanent

in character, empowering a state agency to establish and operate all toll

roads, and ( 2) to provide for the construction of a specific toll road linking

Tacoma, Seattle, and Everett." Toll Bridge, 49 Wn.2d at 523. Similarly, 

in Amalgamated Transit Union, the court found that I -695 embraced two

different purposes: " to specifically set license tab fees at $ 30 and to

provide a continuing method of approving all future tax increases." 

Amalgamated Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d at 217. 

2. Subject -in -title rule. 

For purposes of the subject -in -title rule, courts consider only the

substantive language describing the bill. A title' s " mere reference to a

section... does not state a subject." Patrice v. Murphy, 136 Wn.2d 845, 

853, 966 P.2d 1271 ( 1998) ( internal quotation marks and citations

omitted). Numerical reference following words such as " amending," 

adding new sections to," or " repealing" does not change the analysis. 
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Id.; see also Fray v. Spokane Cnty., 134 Wn.2d 637, 651 -555, 952 P. 2d

601 ( 1998). Bare numeric references do not give adequate notice: 

To say that mere reference to a numbered section embodies the
idea of a theme, proposition, or discourse ... is not sustained by the
ordinary understanding of those terms. 

State v. Superior Court ofKing Cnty., 28 Wash. 317, 325, 68 P. 957

1902). 

The title of a bill may be general or restrictive. Amalgamated

Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d at 207 -208. A statute enacted under a general

title is invalid unless there is " rational unity between the general subject

and the incidental subjects." Id. at 209. Examples of general titles include

An Act relating to violence prevention," " An Act relating to tort actions." 

Id. at 208 ( providing examples). 

C. The statute criminalizing rape of a child in the second degree was
enacted in violation of the single- subject rule and the subject -in- 

title rule. 

RCW 9A.44.076 criminalizes rape of a child in the second degree. 

The legislature amended the statue to its current version in 1990. Laws of

1990, ch. 3, § 903. The title of the bill begins " AN ACT Relating to

criminal offenders .... "
t

Id. The 1990 bill was enacted in violation of art. 

II, § 19.
2

The entire title of the bill reads: " AN ACT Relating to criminal offenders; 
amending RCW 13. 40.205, 10.77. 163, 10.77. 165, 10.77.210, 71. 05. 325, 71. 05. 390, 
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1. The bill violates the single - subject rule. 

The 1990 bill addresses more than one subject. In addition to

reenacting and amending the second - degree rape of a child statute, the bill

covers a variety of other general topics. First, the bill amends certain

sections of the Juvenile Justice Act, including those related to release of

information and sentencing. Laws of 1990, ch. 3, §§ 102, 301. 

Second, the bill adds sections to statutes that govern civil

detention. Laws of 1990, ch. 3, § 109, 120. The new sections relate to

release of information and notice of release from custody. Id. 

Third, the bill amends several statutes relating to compensation for

crime victims. Laws of 1990, ch. 3, § 501 -04. 

71. 05. 420, 71. 05. 440, 71. 05. 670, 9.94A.155, 13. 50.050, 9. 95. 140, 10.97.030, 10.97. 050, 

70.48. 100, 43. 43. 765, 9. 92. 151, 9.94A.150, 70.48.210, 13. 40.020, 13. 40. 160, 13. 40. 110, 

13. 40.210, 43. 43. 745, 7. 68.060, 7. 68.070, 7. 68.080, 7. 68.085, 9.94A.390, 13. 40. 150, 

9. 94A.350, 9. 94A.120, 9. 94A.360, 9. 95. 009, 9A.44.050, 9A.44.083, 9A.44.076, and

9A.88. 010; reenacting and amending RCW 9.94A.030, 9.94A.310, 9.94A.320, 9.94A.400, 
18. 130.040, 43. 43. 830, 43.43. 832, 43.43. 834, and 43. 43. 838; adding a new section to chapter
4.24 RCW; adding new sections to chapter 9. 94A RCW; adding a new section to chapter
9. 95 RCW; adding a new section to chapter 74. 13 RCW; adding new sections to chapter
9A.44 RCW; adding a new section to chapter 10.01 RCW; adding new sections to chapter
10.77 RCW; adding new sections to chapter 13. 40 RCW; adding a new section to chapter
43. 43 RCW; adding a new section to chapter 46.20 RCW; adding a new section to chapter
70.48 RCW; adding new sections to chapter 71. 05 RCW; adding a new section to chapter
71. 06 RCW; adding new sections to chapter 72. 09 RCW; adding a new chapter to Title 18
RCW; adding a new chapter to Title 71 RCW; adding a new section to chapter 43. 06 RCW; 
adding a new chapter to Title 43 RCW; adding a new section to chapter 26.44 RCW; 
creating new sections; prescribing penalties; providing effective dates; and declaring an
emergency." Laws of 1990, ch. 3. 

Z Mr. Haviland did not raise this issue in the trial court. However, conviction under

an unconstitutional statute is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. His argument
may thus be reviewed for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5( a)( 3). 
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Fourth, the bill adds a new chapter to RCW Title 18. These

provisions create the statutory scheme for certifying sex offender

treatment providers. Laws of 1990, ch. 3, § 801 -11. Among other things, 

the new chapter establishes a sexual offender treatment provider advisory

committee and provides tort immunity for its members. Laws of 1990, ch. 

3. § 805. 

Fifth, the bill adds a new chapter to RCW Title 71. The new

chapter creates the statutory scheme for the civil commitment of sexually

violent predators. Laws of 1990, ch. 3, §§ 1001 -13. The new chapter sets

up the complex procedural structure and review process for such

commitments. Id. 

Sixth, the bill amends several statutes relating to background check

procedures for certain employees and volunteers. Laws of 1990, ch 3, §§ 

1101 -04. Some of the amended sections relate to background checks for

civil adjudications and disciplinary board findings. Id. 

Seventh, the bill adds numerous sections to the statutes regarding

funding and grant criteria for community organizations providing services

to crime victims. Laws of 1990, ch. 3, §§ 1201 -10. 

Finally, the bill addresses treatment and supervision of parents

found to have abused children. Laws of 1990, ch. 3, § 1301. 
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The act reenacting and amending second - degree rape of a child

contains more than one general subject" in violation of the single- subject

rule. Washington Toll Bridge, 49 Wn.2d at 525. Accordingly it is void

under Wash. Const. art. II, § 19. Amalgamated Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d

at 216; Toll Bridge, 49 Wn.2d at 525. It has not been resuscitated by

reenactment or amendment since 1990. See Morin v. Harrell, 161 Wn.2d

226, 228, 164 P.3d 495 ( 2007) ( a proper " amendment or reenactment

cures the art. II, § 19 defect. ") Accordingly, the law is unconstitutional. 

Mr. Haviland was convicted under an unconstitutional statute. His

conviction must be vacated and the charge dismissed with prejudice. 

Amalgamated Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d at 207. 

2. The bill addresses subjects that are not encompassed by its
title. 

The most recent bill amending the second - degree rape of a child

statute was titled "AN ACT Relating to criminal offenders..." Laws of

1990, ch. 3. As noted above, the bill embraced more than one subject. In

addition, many of the subjects addressed by the bill do not all fall within

its title. 

The bill is invalid because there is no " rational unity" between the

general subject and the subjects addressed in the bill. Amalgamated

Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d at 207 -208. The title of the bill purports to

13



address " criminal offenders" but also amends and enacts myriad statutes

relating to juvenile offenders,
3

civil commitment, treatment providers, 

employee background checks, funding for community organizations, and

help for crime victims. Laws of 1990, ch. 3, §§ 103, 109, 120, 301, 501- 

04, 801 -11, 1001 -13, 1101 -04. 

The enumeration of each RCW section the bill amends does not

cure the title' s constitutional deficiency. Patrice, 136 Wn.2d at 853. The

mere listing of numerical sections does not state a subject of the bill. Id. 

The second - degree rape of a child statute was amended as part of a

bill that violates the subject -in -title rule. Accordingly, it is

unconstitutional. Amalgamated Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d at 210. 

Because he was found guilty of violating an unconstitutional statute, Mr. 

Haviland' s conviction must be vacated and the charge dismissed with

prejudice. 

3
Juvenile offenders are not " criminal offenders." Under RCW 13. 04.240, "[ a] n

order of court adjudging a child a juvenile offender... under the provisions of this chapter

shall in no case be deemed a conviction of crime." This provision has been cited by the
Supreme Court as one of the reasons juvenile offenders need not be afforded jury trials. 
State v. Schaaf; 109 Wn.2d 1, 8 n. 17, 743 P.2d 240 ( 1987). 
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II. THE TRIAL COURT MISINTERPRETED ER 404( B) AND VIOLATED

MR. HAVILAND' S FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO DUE

PROCESS BY RELYING PROPENSITY EVIDENCE.
4

A. Standard of Review. 

The interpretation of an evidentiary rule presents a question of law, 

reviewed de novo. State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 419, 269 P. 3d 207

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