#### No. 45048-8-II

# THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

## DAVID HAVILAND,

Respondent.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Washington for Lewis County

## **Respondent's Brief**

JONATHAN L. MEYER Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

SARA I. BEIGH, WSBA No. 35564 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

#

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 29, 2012, Deputy Lauer of the Lewis County Sheriff's Office was dispatched to the Human Response Network (HRN) in Morton after receiving a report that R.J.H.<sup>1</sup> (DOB: 11/4/1996) had been raped by her biological father, David Haviland (DOB 10/29/1974). RP 11, 13, 82-83, 98, 135-36 258-59; CP 26-27.<sup>2</sup> Deputy Lauer conducted an interview with R.J.H. and her mother, B.J.H. RP 259-60; CP 27. R.J.H. was crying and appeared to be upset. RP 259; CP 27.

R.J.H. resided at 118 Kelly Lane in Randle, Washington, and most of the sexual contact took place at that address. RP 11-12,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State will refer to the minor victim, her friend, and the minor victim's mother by their initials to protect the identity and privacy of the minor victim.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The State will refer to the verbatim report of proceedings, occurring 5/6/13, 5/7/13, and 5/8/13, which are continually numbered, for the bench trial as RP. Any other hearing will be cited as RP and the date of the hearing.

82; CP 27. The first time Haviland raped R.J.H. she was about 13 years old. RP 13, 71; CP 27. On that occasion, R.J.H. and her friend, S.L.B. (DOB: 02/07/1996), went to the shop to ask Haviland for chewing tobacco. RP 14, 71; CP 27. Haviland told R.J.H. and S.L.B. that "they would have to earn it." RP 14, 72; CP 27. Haviland told S.L.B. to watch for B.J.H., R.J.H.'s mother, and directed R.J.H. to a back room in the shop. RP 72; CP 27. Haviland then pulled down R.J.H.'s pants and inserted his penis into her anus. RP 15-16. R.J.H. said it hurt her anus and it felt gross. RP 16; CP 27. Haviland ejaculated on the floor of the shop. RP 18; CP 27. S.L.B. was then called into the back room of the shop, while R.J.H. stood watch. RP 41, 72; CP 27. Haviland made S.L.B. watch as he masturbated. RP 71.

The next rape also occurred when R.J.H. was 13 years old. RP 20; CP 27. Haviland penetrated R.J.H.'s anus with his penis and on this occasion her rectum bled. RP 20, 22; CP 27. Haviland ejaculated on the floor of the shop and told R.J.H. not to tell anyone. RP 65; CP 27.

The next rape occurred when R.J.H. was approximately 13 to 14 years old in the bathroom at the Haviland home. RP 23; CP 27. Haviland put his penis inside R.J.H.'s vagina while looking in

the bathroom mirror and told R.J.H. to look, that he got it all the way in. RP 24; CP 27.

The next rape occurred around black Friday in November 2011. RP 27-28; CP 27. R.J.H. came home and defendant was on the couch watching television in the living room. RP 51; CP 27. After her mother went into her bedroom, Haviland forced his penis into R.J.H.'s anus, which hurt R.J.H. and made her anus bleed. RP 25-26. Haviland told R.J.H. to watch down the hall for her mother. RP 65; CP 27. Haviland ejaculated on the living room floor. RP 26, 53; CP 27.

The last sexual contact occurred while R.J.H. and Haviland were bear hunting around Cispus in 2011. RP 29-30; CP 27. R.J.H. and Haviland were sitting in the grass when defendant began masturbating himself. RP 30; CP 27. Haviland then made R.J.H. masturbate him by touching his penis with her hand. RP 30-31; CP 27. Haviland forced R.J.H. to put his penis in her mouth. RP 31; CP 27.

R.J.H. told her friend April about the abuse and then told her mother in November 2012. RP 32. B.J.H. confronted Haviland about the allegations regarding R.J.H. and he responded, "it was not that bad." RP 85-86; CP 28. Haviland told B.J.H. that "it was

only her bottom and it wasn't that many times". RP 86; CP 28. When Haviland was contacted by Deputy Lauer, he admitted to previously assaulting his wife, but denied the allegations involving R.J.H. RP 265-66; CP 27. Haviland stated he was not angry at his wife or daughter, as he did not believe they would fabricate the allegations. RP 261-62; CP 27.

The State charged Haviland in the Third Amended Information with, Counts I and II – Rape of a Child in the Second Degree – Domestic Violence, and Counts III, IV, and V – Rape of Child in the Third Degree – Domestic Violence. CP 4-7. There was a hearing regarding the admissibility of certain evidence. *See* RP (5/3/13). Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were entered for that hearing. CP 1-3.

Haviland elected to have his case tried to a judge sitting without a jury and executed a written waiver of jury trial. CP 88. The trial court also conducted a colloquy with Haviland to discuss the jury trial waiver. RP (5/3/13) 25-27. The State and Haviland presented testimony at trial. *See* RP. Haviland was able to elicit testimony from four people, three of which were family members of Haviland, that B.J.H. and R.J.H. had reputations for dishonesty within the community. RP 152, 163-64, 169-70, 183-84. The judge

gave little weight to this testimony because there was an obvious bias due to the witnesses being family member. RP 301; CP 28.

The trial judge found Haviland guilty as charged. RP 304-05; CP 28. Haviland was sentenced to 280 months to life on Counts I and II, and 60 months on Counts III, IV, and V. CP 12. The judge handed down an exceptional sentence, finding that due to Haviland's high offender score, some of his crimes would go unpunished. CP 11, 25. Therefore, Count V was ordered to run consecutive to Counts I and II. CP 12. Haviland timely appeals his conviction. CP 30-46.

The State will supplement the facts in its argument below.

#### III. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### A. SECOND SUBSTITUTE SENTATE BILL NO. 6259 DOES NOT VIOLATE THE SINGLE-SUBJECT RULE OR THE SUBJECT-IN-TITLE RULE OF ARTICLE II, SECTION 19 OF THE WASHINGTON STATE CONSTITUTION.

Haviland argues that the bill enacting the statute criminalizing Rape of a Child in the Second Degree violated the single-subject rule and the subject-in-title rule and therefore RCW 9A.44.076 is unconstitutional. Appellant's Brief 10-14.

Substitute Senate Bill No. 6259 does not violate the Washington State constitutional single-subject or subject-in-title

requirement. The statute criminalizing Rape of a Child in the Second Degree is constitutional and Haviland's convictions should be affirmed.

#### 1. Standard Of Review

Constitutional challenges are reviewed de novo. *Lummi Indian Nation v. State*, 170 Wn.2d 247, 257-58, 241 P.3d 1220 (2010).

A claim of a manifest constitutional error is reviewed de novo. *State v. Edwards*, 169 Wn. App. 561, 566, 280 P.3d 1152 (2012).

#### 2. Second Substitute Senate Bill No. 6259 Does Not Violate Washington State Constitution Article II, Section 19.

The Washington State constitution requires a bill to only embrace one subject and that subject must be expressed in the title of the bill. Const. art. II, § 19.

The constitutional provision that no act shall embrace more than one subject, which shall be expressed in the title, prohibits the passage of an act containing provisions not fairly embraced in the title, and any such provisions are void, and it also prohibits the passage of an act relating to different subjects expressed in the title, in which case the whole act is void."

*Power, Inc. v. Huntley*, 39 Wn.2d 191, 200, 235 P.2d 173 (1951).

Article II, section 19 serves three distinct purposes:

(1) to protect and enlighten the members of the legislature against provisions in bills of which the titles give no intimation; (2) to apprise the people, through such publication of legislative proceedings as is usually made, concerning the subjects of legislation that are being considered; and (3) to prevent hodge-podge or log-rolling legislation.

*City of Fircrest v. Jensen,* 158 Wn.2d 384, 390, 143 P.3d 776 (2006), *citing Patrice v. Murphy,* 136 Wn.2d 845, 851–52, 966 P.2d 1271 (1998).

A statute is presumed constitutional and it is the burden of the party attacking the statute to prove the statute is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. *City of Bellevue v. Lee*, 166 Wn.2d 581, 585, 210 P.3d 1011 (2010), *citing Island County v. State*, 135 Wn.2d 141, 146, 955 P.2d 377 (1998).

This doctrine applies with particular force when the issue relates to constitutional form, because legislative procedure is involved, i.e., 'the methods of transacting public business by co-ordained branch of the state government', and not 'those constitutional guaranties of personal right which it is the peculiar province of courts to protect'.

Wash. Fed'n of Employees v. State, 127 Wn.3d 544, 556, 901 P.2d
1028 (1995), quoting Holzman v. Spokane, 91 Wash. 418, 421, 157
P. 1086 (1916).

Titles may be general or restrictive. *State v. Thomas*, 103 Wn. App. 800, 807, 14 P.3d 854 (2000), *review denied*, 143 Wn.2d 1022 (2001). "A general title is one which is broad rather than narrow." *State v. Lanphar*, 124 Wn. App. 669, 673, 102 P.3d 864 (2004); *Citizens for Responsible Wildlife Mgmt. v. State*, 149 Wn.2d 622, 632-33, 71 P.3d 644 (2003); *Amalgamated Transit Union Local 587 v. State*, 142 Wn.2d 183, 207, 11 P.3d 762 (2000).

"A general title broadly allows subjects that are 'reasonably germane' to its title to be contained in the bill's body and even 'incidental subjects or subdivisions' may be allowed." *Lanphar*, 124 Wn. App. at 674; citing *Citizens for Responsible Wildlife* at 632-33.

"[A] title complies with the constitution if it gives notice that would lead to an inquiry into the body of the act, or indicate to an inquiring mind the scope and purpose of the law." *Wash. Fed'n of State Employees v. State,* 127 Wn.2d 544, at 555, 901 P.2d 1028 (1995) (quoting *Young Men's Christian Ass'n v. State,* 62 Wn. 2d 504, 506, 383 P.2d 497 (1963)).

*Lanphar*, 124 Wn. App. at 674. "Where a legislative act's title expresses a single general subject, the act may include all matters that are naturally and reasonably connected with the title and all measures that may facilitate accomplishing the title's stated purpose." *State v. Stannard*, 134 Wn. App. 828, 836, 142 P.3d 641 (2006); *Amalgamated* at 210.

General titles are given liberal construction. "The title need not be an index to the bill's contents or detail the bill's provisions. All that is required is that there be some 'rational unity' between the general subject and the incidental subdivisions." *Lanphar*, 124 Wn. App. at 674, citing *Wash Fed'n* at 556 (other internal citations omitted). A restrictive title, in contrast, is not afforded liberal construction. *State v. Broadaway*, 133 Wn.2d 118, 127, 942 P.2d 363 (1997). "A restricted title encompasses ""a particular part or branch of a subject...carved out and selected as the subject of the legislation."" *Lanphar*, 124 Wn. App. at 674, citing *Broadaway* at 127.

#### a. Second Substitute Senate Bill No. 6259, which amended the statute criminalizing Rape Of A Child In The Second Degree, does not violate the single-subject rule.

The title of Second Substitute Senate Bill No. 6259 is "AN ACT Relating to criminal offenders; …" Laws of 1990, ch. 3. Haviland argues there are a number of different subjects encompassed within the bill and it therefore violates the singlesubject rule. Appellant's Brief 11-13. Haviland's argument fails because all of the sections of the bill are all related to the broad subject of "Relating to criminal offenders." Each section of the bill is reasonably germane to the title and there is rational unity between the subject and the incidental subdivisions.

Haviland argues eight different ways in which the singlesubject rule is violated. First, it is important to look at the plain meaning of the language in the title, as criminal offender is not defined within the bill. *See State v. Sullivan*, 143 Wn.2d 162, 175, 19 P.3d 1012, 1019 (2001). Criminal is defined as, "1: involving or being a crime < ~ carelessness> 2: relating to crime or its punishment..." Webster's Third New International Dictionary, 536. Offender is defined as, "one that offends : one that violates a law, rule, or code of conduct : one that commits an offense..." Webster's Third New International Dictionary, 1566. The bill is not titled "AN ACT Relating to convicted criminal offenders." Criminal offenders are people who violate a criminal law or rule. The different sections of the bill do have rational unity with this general subject.

Haviland takes issue with the bill amending sections of the Juvenile Justice Act, including the sections related to release of information about offenders and sentencing. Appellant's Brief 11. Section 102 authorizes the department to release relevant information necessary to protect the public from juveniles adjudicated of sex offenses. Laws of 1990, ch. 3, § 102. Section

301 amends the definitional section of RCW 13.40 (the Juvenile Justice Act) which includes definitions for serious offender, listing the crimes one must commit to be considered a serious offender, juvenile offender, offender, and restitution. Laws of 1990, ch. 3, § 301. These sections have rational unity with the general subject.

Next, Haviland takes issue with two sections of chapter 3 he asserts regard the release of information and notice of release from custody in civil detention cases. Appellant's Brief 11. While it is true these sections, §§109 and 120, are in regards to civil commitments, they address civil commitments where a person has either been found not guilty by reason of insanity or are considered a sexual psychopath, both of which are related and rational unity to criminal offenders, because one does not become either without having committed a criminal offense. Laws of 1990, ch. 3, §§ 109 and 120; RCW 10.77; RCW 71.06.

Haviland complains the bill amends different sections which relate to crime victims. Brief of Appellant 11-12 (citing to ch. 3, §§ 501-04; 1201-10<sup>3</sup>). Any provision regarding a crime victim has rational unity to criminal offenders as a person would not become a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The sections dealing with administration of grants actually relates to services for sex offender treatment within the community. Further section 1202 was vetoed by the governor and that portion directed to be promulgated by an Executive Order to the Department of Community Development. *See* Laws of 1990, ch. 3.

crime victim but-for a person criminally offending. Also, matters dealing with compensation for crime victims directly relates to criminal offenders, as they may to pay restitution. *See* RCW 9.94A.753.

Haviland argues that the portion of the bill, adding a new chapter to RCW Title 18, which creates a statutory scheme for certifying sex offender treatment providers is not relating to criminal offenders. Appellant's Brief 12. Sex offenders are criminal offenders and most are ordered to undergo treatment as part of their conditions of community custody. *See* RCW 9.94A.820. Creating a statutory scheme for certified treatment for sex offenders does relate to criminal offenders.

The section creating a new chapter of RCW Title 71, adding a statutory scheme for civil commitment of sexually violent predators is also related to criminal offenders contrary to Haviland's argument. See Laws of 1990, ch. 3, §§ 1001-13; Brief of Appellant 12. "'Sexually violent predator' means any person who has been convicted or charged with a crime of sexual violence and who suffers from mental abnormality or personality disorder which makes the person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence." Laws of 1990, ch. 3, § 1002(1). These sections of the bill

have rational unity with the title and fall under the subject, "Relating to criminal offenders".

The sections in the bill relating to background checks only release information, including in disciplinary board decisions, when a person has been convicted of a crime against children or other persons; convicted of crimes related to financial exploitation of vulnerable adults, when a person has been found to have physically or sexually abused or exploited a minor or developmentally disabled person, or financially exploited or abused any vulnerable adult. Laws of 1990, ch. 3, §§ 1101-04. These sections relate to criminal offenders.

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